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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 

1.  Did The First Circuit Err In Concluding The Defendant Had Adequate 

Notice Of The Regulations He Was Convicted Of Violating? 

2. Was There Sufficient Evidence To Affirm The Defendant’s Convictions? 
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PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI 
TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE FIRST CIRCUIT 
 

 Ronald Strong respectfully petitions this Court for a writ of certiorari 

to review the judgment and opinion of the United States Court of Appeals for 

the First Circuit affirming his convictions. 

INTRODUCTION 

 A magistrate convicted Mr. Strong after a bench trial of creating a 

hazard on federal property, creating a nuisance on federal property, and 

willfully damaging federal property after Mr. Strong lost control of his bowels 

upon entering the federal courthouse in Portland, Maine, and then used the 

first floor bathroom to attempt to clean himself. 

OPINION BELOW 

 The decision of the magistrate of the United States District Court for 

the District of Maine, (Muirhead, J.) finding the defendant guilty and 

sentencing him to seven days of jail is reprinted in the Appendix and is not 

otherwise published.  The decision of the district court judge (Laplante, J) 

affirming his convictions is also reprinted in the Appendix and not otherwise 

published. The First Circuit’s decision (Lynch, C.J., Kayatta, J, Torruella, J 

dissenting) upholding the district court’s decision is reprinted in the 

Appendix and is published at 724 F.3d 51 (1st Cir. 2013), 2013 U.S. App. 

LEXIS 14662. 



 
 

2 

JURISDICTION 

 The First Circuit rendered its decision on July 19, 2013, and denied 

the defendant’s motion for a rehearing on August 8, 2013.  The petitioner 

submits this petition for a writ of certiorari to appeal the First Circuit’s 

decision and invokes this Court’s jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1). 

CONSTITUTIONAL, STATUTORY AND  
REGULATORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

 
Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution 

 “No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous 

crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury, except in cases 

arising in the land or naval forces, or in the militia, when in actual service in 

time of war or public danger; nor shall any person be subject for the same 

offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb; nor shall be compelled in 

any criminal case to be a witness against himself, nor be deprived of life, 

liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor shall private property be 

taken for public use, without just compensation.” 

40 U.S.C. sec. 318(a) 

“The Administrator of General Services or officials of the General 

Services Administration duly authorized by him are authorized to make all 

needful rules and regulations for the government of the property under their 

charge and control, and to annex to such rules and regulations such 

reasonable penalties, within the limits prescribed in section 318c of this title, 
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as will ensure their enforcement: Provided, that the rules and regulations 

shall be posted and kept posted in a conspicuous place on such property.” 

40 U.S.C. Sec. 1315(c)(1) 

“The Secretary, in consultation with the Administrator of General 

Services, may prescribe regulations necessary for the protection and 

administration of property owned or occupied by the Federal Government 

and persons on the property.  The regulations may include reasonable 

penalties, within the limits prescribed in paragraph (2), for violations of the 

regulations. The regulations shall be posted and remain posted in a 

conspicuous place on the property.” 

41 C.F.R. sec. 102-74.365  

“The rules in this subpart apply to all property under the authority of 

GSA (General Service Administration) and to all persons entering in or on 

such property. Each occupant agency shall be responsible for the observance 

of these rules and regulations. Federal agencies must post the notice in the 

Appendix to this part at each public entrance to each public facility.” 

41 C.F.R. sec. 102-74.380 (b) and (d) 

 “What is the policy concerning preservation of property?  

All persons entering in or on Federal Property are prohibited from- 

(b) Willfully destroying or damaging property; 

(d) Creating a hazard on property to persons or things;” 

 



 
 

4 

41 C.F.R. 102-74.390 (a) 

 “What is the policy concerning disturbances? 

All persons entering in or on Federal property are prohibited from loitering, 

exhibiting disorderly conduct or exhibiting other conduct on property that- 

(a) creates loud or unusual noise or a nuisance.” 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Factual Background 

On May 24, 2011, Mr. Strong entered the federal courthouse in 

Portland, Maine. As the he was going through the security screening, Mr. 

Strong stated that he needed to use the bathroom right away. The security 

officer told him that he could use it as soon as he cleared the screening area.  

Mr. Strong emptied his pockets and was about to pass through the 

metal detector when he told the officer he was defecating in his pants. The 

officer testified that as Mr. Strong was passing through the metal detector, 

he smelled a strong fecal odor. Security personnel then escorted Mr. Strong to 

the first floor bathroom. Because of an ongoing improper communication with 

a clerk, security escorted Mr. Strong whenever he entered the courthouse.  

After he left the bathroom, Mr. Strong went to the clerk’s office and 

then left the courthouse without further incident. He did not tell anyone 

about the condition of the bathroom. Approximately fifteen minutes after Mr. 

Strong left the building, a law enforcement agent attempted to use the 

bathroom. He alerted security who called for a cleaning person.  
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The cleaning woman testified that much of the floor of the bathroom as 

well the lower part of the walls were covered in feces. She estimated that 

feces were present on seventy-five percent of the restroom floor. She also 

noted feces on the paper towel dispenser, the wall between the dispenser and 

the sink, the wall between the dispenser and the door to the bathroom, the 

floor around the dispenser, the toilet seat and bowl, the floor near the toilet, 

the toilet paper dispenser, both toilet paper rolls, and the wall near the toilet 

paper dispenser. There were no feces on the mirror or sink. She noticed a 

piece of clothing part way in the trashcan, but did not examine it.  

Mr. Strong testified that while going through the security screening 

process, he had an uncontrollable urge to use the bathroom. After security 

personnel told him he would have to go through the metal detector first, he 

lost control of his bowels. His excrement dripped down his legs and onto the 

courthouse floor as he made his way to the bathroom1.  

In the bathroom, Mr. Strong removed his jacket, jeans, and socks, and 

put them on the floor. His jeans were completely covered in feces on the 

inside, and it was dripping down his legs to his ankles. His socks were also 

covered. He worked at a frenetic pace to try to clean himself. He took off his 

boxers and put them in the trash. He used paper towels and toilet papers to 

wipe himself. He had feces on his hands. He sat on the toilet a few times 

before putting his socks and jeans back on. He went to the sink and washed 

                                                
1 The government also charged Mr. Strong with tracking feces on the interior stairs of the 
courthouse, but the magistrate dismissed that charge after hearing the evidence at trial. 
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himself as best as he could before wiping the sink down and leaving the 

bathroom. The bathroom was a complete mess and he felt very embarrassed 

and humiliated. 

Mr. Strong testified that prior to losing control of his bowels, his 

stomach was upset. Mr. Strong,who was approximately fifty years old at the 

time of this incident, has a heart condition and was taking thirteen different 

types of medicine. He had kidney surgery twice in the year before this 

occurred. On another occasion, he lost control of his bowels in Kmart.  

The government charged Mr. Strong with creating a hazard on federal 

property in violation of 41 C.F.R. sec. 102-74.380(d), creating a nuisance on 

federal property in violation of 41 C.F.R. sec. 102-74.390(a), and willfully 

damaging federal property in violation of 41 C.F.R. sec. 102-74.380(b). The 

enabling statute, 40 U.S.C. Sec. 1315(c)(1) requires that regulations 

governing a person’s conduct on federal property be posted in a “conspicuous” 

place.  A regulation, 41 C.F.R. sec. 102-74.365, requires that the regulations 

be posted at the entrance to the courthouse.  The regulations in this case 

were posted on a wall next to the entrance to the clerk’s office. 

At the time of the incident, Mr. Strong had a case against the Social 

Security Administration that has been dismissed. As a result of that case, he 

had passed the regulations on his way to the clerk’s office on several 

occasions. A clerk called by Mr. Strong testified at trial that he did not 
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appear angry or act in an unusual manner when he entered the clerk’s office 

that day. 

Procedural History 

In front of the magistrate, Mr. Strong argued that his case should be 

dismissed because the regulations the government charged him with 

violating were not posted at the courthouse entrance as required by 

applicable statute and regulation. The magistrate declined to dismiss the 

charges, finding that Mr. Strong had “implied actual notice” of the 

regulations because he had walked by the posting several times.  

At the conclusion of the government’s case, stand-by counsel for Mr. 

Strong made a motion for a judgment of acquittal arguing that the 

government failed to prove that Mr. Strong acted intentionally, and that the 

evidence showed that the condition of the bathroom was a result of Mr. 

Strong’s efforts to clean himself. 

Mr. Strong appealed his convictions, pro se, to the district court where 

he again argued the notice issue. The district court judge affirmed his 

convictions, finding that Mr. Strong had implied actual notice of the 

regulations. Alternatively, the district court judge held that proper posting of 

the regulations was not a condition precedent to a criminal conviction.  

A divided panel of the First Circuit affirmed Mr. Strong’s convictions 

finding that the posting complied with the statute, 40 U.S.C. Sec. 1315(c)(1), 

because the notice posted outside of the clerk’s office was conspicuous as 
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applied to Mr. Strong. The majority further held that although the posting 

failed to comply with the regulation, 41 C.F.R. sec. 102-74.365, proper posting 

was not required for a criminal conviction.  United States v. Strong, 2013 

U.S. App. LEXIS at 10-11. In addition, the majority concluded that the 

evidence was sufficient to show that Mr. Strong acted intentionally.  Id. at 25. 

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT 

I. The First Circuit’s Conclusion That Mr. Strong Had Adequate 
Notice Of The Regulations He Was Convicted Of Violating 
Conflicts With Decisions From The Fifth and Ninth Circuits. 

 
A. The Majority Erred In Finding The Government Complied 

With The Statute’s Conspicuous Posting Requirement. 
 
The majority held that the conspicuous posting requirement of 40 

U.S.C. Sec. 1315(c)(1) was met in this case. (Opinion, p. 9). Neither the 

magistrate nor the district court judge made such a finding, however, and the 

majority’s finding is not supported by the evidence in the record.   

The majority’s finding also conflicts with the Fifth Circuit’s decision in 

United States v. Strakoff, 719 F.2d 1307, 1309-10 (5th Cir. 1983), and with 

the Ninth Circuit’s decision in United States v. Bichsel, 395 F.3d. 1053, 1056 

(9th Cir. 2005). In Strakoff, the defendant was convicted of bringing a firearm 

into a federal courthouse in violation of a GSA regulation. Id. at 1308-9. The 

regulations were not posted at the courthouse entrance, but instead were 

posted at various other locations in the building. Id. at 1309-10. The 

government conceded in Strakoff that, “one entering the Courthouse through 

either public entrance, going directly to and through the metal detector, and 
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boarding an elevator to get to the courts or other federal offices would never 

see a posted notice.” Id. at 1309. 

Adopting the Black’s law dictionary definition, the Strakoff Court held 

that a “conspicuous place” means “one which is reasonably calculated to 

impart the information in question.”  Id. at 1309. Because the notices were 

not reasonably calculated to impart the restrictions to citizens entering the 

courthouse in Strakoff, the Court held the notices were not conspicuously 

posted. Id. at 1310. Based on the improper posting as well as the defendant’s 

lack of actual notice of the regulation, the Court reversed the defendant’s 

conviction. Id. at 1310. 

Here, as in Strakoff, it is uncontested that a person entering the 

federal courthouse in Portland, Maine and proceeding to the courtrooms or 

offices upstairs, either via the stairs or the elevator would not have passed by 

the posted regulations. (Opinion, p. 29, 38). As the dissent points out, this 

means that the posting was only reasonably calculated to give notice to one 

group of individuals, those proceeding to the clerk’s office. (Opinion, p. 29). 

Moreover, the notice, which was posted on a thin wall next to the clerk’s 

office, was approximately twelve inches by nine inches and was primarily in 

eight point font. (Opinion, p. 28-9). Although it contained the word, “warning” 

in bold letters at the bottom, the posting was not conspicuous due to its 

placement as well as its size. See Appendices C and D of the First Circuit’s 

Opinion (photographs showing the size and location of the posting). 
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In Bichsel, 395 F.3d at 1055, a case involving a priest who chained 

himself to the courthouse door in protest of the Iraq war, the Ninth Circuit 

adopted the Strakoff Court’s definition of “conspicuous.” It further held that 

the regulation the defendant was convicted of violating were not posted in a 

“conspicuous place” because the posting was “not accessible, let alone within 

reading distance, to an outside courthouse visitor.2” Id. at 1056.  

In this case, the majority holds that the posting only has to be 

reasonably calculated to give notice to the particular defendant charged with 

a violation to be “conspicuous.” The majority states: “This case differs from 

Strakoff and Bichsel because in those cases the posting could not have 

reasonably imparted the information to those specific defendants concerning 

their violations on the facts of those cases. Here, it could have.”  Strong at 13. 

Under the majority’s definition of “conspicuous,” the government’s 

ability to prosecute an individual for a violation of improperly posted 

regulations would depend upon where that individual traveled in the 

courthouse. Using the majority’s definition of conspicuous, if Mr. Strong had 

never visited the clerk’s office before, but instead had proceeded up the stairs 

and made a mess in a second floor bathroom, he could not have been 

prosecuted. This case by case interpretation of whether a “conspicuous” 

posting requirement has been met is contrary to federal precedent, leads to a 

                                                
2 The regulation at issue in Bichsel was posted inside of the entryway. Id. at 1054. In 
addition, there was a “sandwich board” containing the rules and regulations placed 
outside the courthouse daily, but the board was not outside the building at the time of the 
defendant’s arrest. Id. 
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double standard in prosecutions, and offers no meaningful guidance to 

building managers.    

The dissent would adopt the same definition of “conspicuous” as the 

Courts in Strakoff and Bichsel, finding that the entrance to the courthouse is 

the only place reasonably calculated to impart information to all indivudals 

entering the courthouse concerning conduct that is prohibited inside the 

building. Strong at 48. In his dissent, Judge Torruella writes: “As a matter of 

due process, if a visitor is to be held to a federal regulation regarding conduct 

on federal premises, it is only logical, fair and constitutional that the visitor 

be clearly and unambiguously forewarned of what is expected of him or her 

before becoming subject to the regulation.” Strong at 48-9. The majority’s 

characterization of the improper posting in this case as a “bureaucratic mix 

up,” trivializes the notice and due process concerns implicated in this case. 

Strong at 3. See United States v. Washabaugh, No. 3:07-PO0253, 2008 WL 

203012, at 1 (S.D. Ohio, Jan 22, 2008)(noting due process concerns resulting 

from a posting that was not accessible to the public).  

In a footnote, the majority also attempts to distinguish this case from 

Strakoff on the basis that “possessing a gun properly registered in one’s name 

on entrance to a federal building is unlike the situation here, everyone knows 

that smearing feces in a bathroom used by others is wrong.” Strong at 14, fn 

4. This distinction is unpersuasive. 
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The majority’s distinction would lead to arbitrary enforcement of 

improperly posted regulations depending on whether a prosecutor and/or the 

trial judge believed the defendant should have known that his or her conduct 

was wrong. In mandating conspicuous posting of all regulations concerning 

conduct that is prohibited on federal property, Congress did not make such a 

distinction. As Judge Torruella states, “the Court should not substitute its 

own version of the law for that which was enacted by Congress.” (See 

Opinion, p. 41).  

B. The Court Erred In Finding That Proper Posting Was Not 
A Condition Precedent For A Criminal Conviction. 

 
The legislative history of the enabling statute, 40 U.S.C. Sec. 

1315(c)(1), makes clear that proper posting is required for a criminal 

prosecution. An earlier version of the statute contained the word, “provided” 

before the specific posting requirement. See 40 U.S.C. sec. 318(a). “Provided” 

was dropped from the later version of the statute, 40 U.S.C. Sec. 1315(c)(1). 

In affirming Mr. Strong’s convictions, the district court judge found that 

Congress’s omission of the word “provided” was significant, and indicated an 

intent to eliminate proper posting as a condition precedent to a criminal 

conviction.  

Legislative history, however, does not support the district court judge’s 

interpretation of the statute. The preamble to the legislation that led to 40 

U.S.C. sec. 1315(c)(1) states: “An act to revise, codify, and enact without 

substantive change certain general and permanent laws, related to public 
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buildings, property, and works.” Pub. L. No. 107-21, 116 Stat. 1062 

(2002)(emphasis added). In addition, the House Report concerning the 

legislation states: “Although changes [were] made in language, no 

substantive changes were made.” H.R. Rep. No. 107-479, at 2 (2002), 

reprinted in 2002 U.S.C.C.A. N. 827, 828 (emphasis added). “[E]xception[s] or 

limitation[s] [were] introduced by the words ‘except that’ or ‘but’ or by placing 

the excepting or limited language in a separate sentence. “ Id. at 3 (emphasis 

added) Strong at 44.  

The majority avoids the obvious conclusion from this legislative 

history, that Congress intended proper posting to be a condition precedent to 

a criminal conviction, and that the omission of the word “provided” was not 

significant. Strong at 11-12.  Instead, with respect to the statute, the majority 

finds that the posting here was conspicuous. Strong at 10. With respect to the 

applicable regulation, the majority acknowledges that the government did not 

comply with the mandatory posting requirement because the notice was not 

located at the courthouse entrance. Strong at 3. Despite the government’s 

failure to comply with the posting requirement of the regulation, the majority 

affirms Mr. Strong’s convictions on the basis that proper posting is not a 

condition precedent for a criminal concition even in the absence of actual 

notice on the part of the defendant. See Bichsel, 395 F.3d at 1056-7 (finding 

an actual notice exception to the mandatory posting requirement). The 
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majority’s conclusion that proper posting is not required for a criminal 

conviction is erroneous.  

The plain language of the posting regulation is mandatory rather than 

discretionary, using the word “must.” Moreover, as the dissent notes, 41 

C.F.R. 102-74.365 is found in the very beginning of the subpart which 

regulates conduct on federal property, and states that the rules apply to “all 

persons entering in or on such property.”  Strong at 40. Based on the plain 

language of the regulation as well as its location in the subpart of the C.F.R, 

the dissent correctly concludes, “its provisions are prerequisites to all 

subsequent sections in the subpart.” Id.       

The majority asserts that the posting requirement contained in the 

regulation is not a condition precedent to a criminal conviction, in part, 

because it is contained “in an entirely different section of the regulations, sec. 

102-74.365, than the offenses for which Mr. Strong was charged and 

convicted, sec. 102.74-380(b) and (d) and 102-74.390(a).” Strong at 18. The 

regulations defining the offenses, however, are contained in the same subpart 

as the posting requirement which is entitled, “Conduct On Federal Property.” 

Moreover, the section containing the posting requirement is in the first 

section of the subpart entitled, “Applicability.”  

This case can be distinguished from United States v. Irby, 269 Fed. 

Appx. 246 (4th Cir. 2008), upon which the majority relies. In Irby, the Court 

held that proper posting was not a prerequisite to a criminal conviction in 
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part because the Secretary’s authority to promulgate rules governing conduct 

on VA property was in a different subsection of the statute than the one 

requiring posting. Id. at 248. Here, in contrast, here, the posting requirement 

is contained in the applicability section of the same Subpart, indicating an 

intent to have the regulations apply only in the case of proper posting. 

The Ninth Circuit in Bichsel came to the same conclusion as the 

dissent in this case, finding that the express language of 41 C.F.R. sec. 102-

75.365 requires posting at the courthouse entrance for a criminal conviction 

absent evidence of actual notice on the part of the defendant.3  Id. at 1056-7. 

Bichsel is the only published decision interpreting the exact posting 

regulation at issue here.   

The majority is incorrect in asserting that Bichsel does not support the 

Mr. Strong’s contention that proper posting is a condition precedent to a 

criminal prosecution. Strong at 11. Although the Bichsel Court did not 

engage in an explicit analysis of the regulatory language, the Court held: “To 

enforce this regulation, federal agencies must post notice of it an each public 

entrance to each Federal facility.” Id. at 1055.   

The majority states that Mr. Strong’s interpretation of the regulation 

should be rejected because it would lead to a strange result in a case where a 

federal building had more than one entrance, and the regulations are posted 

                                                
3 In this case, the government did not present evidence that Mr. Strong had actual notice 
of the regulation as was the case in Bichsel, instead relying on the theory of “implied 
actual notice.”  Neither the majority nor the dissent found “implied actual notice” to be 
sufficient for a criminal conviction.  



 
 

16 

at all but one of those entrances. Strong at 18. Under these circumstances, 

the majority writes, “an individual could avoid prosecution for committing a 

substantive offense even if he passed through one of the entrances with the 

posting.” Id. This result is not strange. Indeed, this is what was intended by 

both 40 U.S.C. Sec. 1315(c)(1) and 41 C.F.R. sec. 102-74.365; strict 

compliance with the posting requirement as a condition precedent to a 

criminal prosecution.  

II. The First Circuit Erred In Not Reversing The Defendant’s 
Convictions Based On Insufficient Evidence. 

 
A. There Was Insufficient Evidence That The Defendant 

Intentionally Or Willfully Smeared Feces In The 
Bathroom. 

 
Two of the crimes Mr. Strong was charged with, creating a nuisance on 

federal property, and creating a hazard on federal property do not specify a 

mental element. The third, damaging federal property, requires “willful” 

conduct. Where the definition of a crime does not contain an explicit mental 

element, general intent is required.  See United States v. X-Citement Video, 

Inc. 513 U.S. 64, 68-70 (1994) (finding that the defendant must act knowingly 

with respect to all subsections of the statute). “Willful” conduct is conduct 

that is voluntary and intentional. Black’s Law Dictionary (8th Ed. 2004). 

There was no evidence in this case that Mr. Strong’s conduct was either 

voluntary, or intentional and therefore “willful” as required by the 

regulations.   
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In reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence claim, the court must view 

all of the evidence in the light most favorable to the government. Jackson v. 

Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979). The government’s case here falls short. As 

the dissent correctly concludes, the fact that seventy-five percent of the floor 

may have been covered in feces does not support an inference of willfulness 

where the bathroom in question was small, and it is uncontested that Mr. 

Strong involuntarily lost control of his bowels at the metal detector and was 

tracking feces inside the courthouse as he proceeded to the bathroom. Strong 

at 59-60. Finally, Mr. Strong’s testimony that he attempted to clean himself 

in the bathroom, temporarily placed his soiled clothing on the floor, and 

threw away his boxer shorts is consistent with the cleaning woman’s 

testimony that there were feces on the floor, paper towel and toilet paper 

dispensers, and a discarded item of clothing in the trash. 

That evidence combined with a lack of indicia of intentional smearing 

such as smear marks or patterns, or the presence of feces in prominent or 

difficult to clean places like the mirror or drywall indicate an accident as 

opposed to intentional conduct. Although the cleaning woman used the word 

“smear” in her testimony, it is clear from the record that she was referring to 

the consistency and location of the excrement rather than the method of 

placement. She specifically distinguished what she saw from “finger smears.” 

Strong at 62-3. 
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The majority suggests that Mr. Strong may have had a motive to soil 

the restroom because his civil case had been dismissed and because he was 

not allowed to use the bathroom before passing through the metal detector. 

Strong at 23. There was no evidence presented at trial, however, that Mr. 

Strong appeared angry on the date of the incident. On the contrary, a clerk 

testified that when he entered the clerk’s office after he left the bathroom, 

Mr. Strong did not appear angry and acted in a normal manner. 

The majority also relies, in part, on the fact that Mr. Strong did not tell 

anyone about the condition of the bathroom to support an inference of 

intentional or willful smearing. Strong at 23. This inference is also 

unreasonable. Instead, the reasonable inference to be drawn from this 

evidence is that Mr. Strong was too embarrassed and humiliated by what had 

occurred to notify anyone. 

B. The Magistrate’s Finding That The Mens Rea 
Requirement Was Met In This Case Was Plain Error. 

 
Standby counsel for Mr. Strong did not renew her motion for a 

judgment of acquittal at the close of the evidence.  The issue of whether the 

government offered sufficient proof for the mental element of the crime is 

therefore unpreserved. 

The majority contends that the magistrate found Mr. Strong’s conduct 

to be “willful.” Strong at 20, fn 9. The dissent concludes that the magistrate 

erred in applying the wrong mental state to the crimes of creating a hazard 

and a nuisance by requiring only “knowing” conduct. Strong at 57-8. Citing 
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United States v. Gandia-Maysonet, 227 F.3d 1, 6 (1st Cir. 2000), the dissent 

finds that the magistrate’s application of the wrong scienter requirement 

combined with a lack of evidence of “willful” conduct on the part of Mr. Strong 

resulted in plain error.  

Even if the magistrate applied the correct mens rea, however, his 

guilty finding was plain error. Plain error occurs when there is a “clear and 

gross injustice.” United States v. Concemi, 957 F.2d 942, 950 (1st Cir. 1992). 

The error must be clear and obvious, must affect a defendant’s substantial 

rights, and also impair the fairness, integrity and public reputation of the 

judiciary. United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 733-7 (1993). Mr. Strong’s 

conviction for three criminal offenses based on his involuntary and 

unintentional conduct meets the requirements for plain error and violates his 

rights to due process under the Fifth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution. See In Re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970) (requiring the 

government to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the charged 

offense); Olano, 507 U.S. at 736. (“The Court of Appeals should no doubt 

correct a plain forfeited error that causes the conviction or sentencing of an 

actually innocent defendant).” Because Mr. Strong did not possess the 

requisite mental state for the offenses, he is actually innocent of these crimes. 
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CONCLUSION AND STATEMENT OF RELIEF REQUESTED 

 For all of the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant the petition for 

a writ of certiorari and reverse the decision of the First Circuit Court of 

Appeals. 

      
 Respectfully submitted, 
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